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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
v. : Criminal No. 21-CR-000287-TNM

HUNTER SEEFRIED,

Defendant.

DEFENDANT HUNTER SEEFRIED’S MOTION
FOR DOWNWARD VARIANCE AND SENTENCING MEMORANDUM

L. Introduction

On January 6, 2021, Hunter Seefried was just 7 weeks past his 21% birthday. But
January 6" is a day that is forever etched in his mind and one he wishes he could relive so that
he could set things right. If he could, Hunter would start the day by sticking to his position
when he earlier told his father that he did not want to go to the rally in the Capitol. He gave
in because his father, Kevin Seefried, kept pushing his desire to go and to have his family
attend with him. Kevin Seefried rules over his home and all who live in it with an “it’s my
way or the highway” attitude. If only he could relive that day, Hunter also would have
rebuffed his father’s decision that Hunter, his mother, and his then-girlfriend should follow
him and join in with the crowds going to the Capitol after they left the rally at the Ellipse
instead of going home after lunch as they originally planned. And; more importantly, if
Hunter could relive that day, he would have carried himself in the manner in which he had for

about 99 % of the first 21 years of his young life. Having not followed his gut and instead
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following his father’s lead, Hunter now lives with a great sense of shame and an equal amount
of remorse for his criminal behavior on January 6, 2021.

Hunter knows that he cannot take back his actions of January 6™, but he intends to
make up for his criminal behavior that day by leading a life driven by concern for, and
kindness to others, a life of peacefulness, decency, and humility — all the attributes and
characteristics by which he led his life before January 6™ and which he has since then. Hunter
will never downplay or try to reframe that day as solely a peaceful protest, although he carried
no weapons, and never physically or verbally threatened or assaulted any law enforcement
officers or other individuals.

At sentencing, Hunter respectfully asks this Court to grant his request for a departure
or variance below the guidelines and impose a non-custodial sentence, comprising of 3 years
of probation, with conditions to include 4 months of in-home detention, and 100 hours of
community service. Such a sentence is sufficient, but no more than necessary, to meet the

goals of sentencing after consideration of 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) factors.

II. Guidelines Calculations & Objections

A. Guidelines Calculations

The Probation Office calculated Hunter’s Total Offense Level as 25 (1 49), consisting
of a base offense of 14 points (PSR § 40), plus 8 and 3-point adjustments (PSR,{] 41 & 42)
under USSG §§ 2J1.2(b)(1)(B) and 2J1.2(b)(2). The PSR states that these adjustments are
warranted because (1) “the offense involved causing or threatening physical injury to a
person, or property damage, in order to obstruct justice (to wit: Officer Goodman was
confronted with multiple rioters, including the defendant.... [ ] Hunter Seefried stood with

the mob of rioters as the mob shouted threatening statements at Officer Goodman while
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continuing to advance toward him;” (PSR, 941) and “the offense resulted in substantial
interference with the administration of justice...” (PSR,  42).

The Probation Office, however, recognizes that grounds exist for a variance. “As
a result of the presentence investigation, the Probation Office has identified that the following
factors that may warrant a variance from the applicable guideline range: defendant’s youth

and the total offense level may over-represent the seriousness of his conduct.” PSR, § 132.

B. Objections

The defense objects to the 8 and 3-point upward adjustments under USSG §

2J1.2(a) (PSR.§ 41), USSG § 2J1.2(b)(1)(2) (PSR, 1 42).

Section 2J1.2(a) sets a base offense level for obstruction of justice at 14. The section

further reads in pertinent part as follows:

(b) Specific Offense Characteristics
(1) (Apply the greatest):

(B) If the offense involved causing or threatening to cause physical
injury to a person, or property damage, in order to obstruct the
administration of justice, increase by 8 levels.

(2) If the offense resulted in substantial interference with the
administration of justice, increase by 3 levels.

It is clear, therefore, that for the 8-level enhancement to apply. the defendant must have
caused or threatened to cause physical injury to another in order to obstruct the
“administration of justice” for the 3-level enhancement to apply. Not only must the
offense result in substantial interference, but the interference must be with the
“administration of justice.” It is apparent that a conviction under 18 U.S.C §1512(¢)(2)

bl

has nothing whatsoever to do with the administration of justice,” a requirement for

§§2J1.2(b)(1)(B) and 2J1.2(b)(2) to apply. Section §1512(c) deals with the obstruction of an
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"official proceeding." A review of the history of the charge reveals that the provision was
added to the statute in 2002 as part of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. In 1995, the Supreme Court,
in United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593 (1995), construed obstruction of the "due
administration of justice" in 18 U.S.C. §1503 to require a showing that a defendant's
actions must have the "natural and probable effect” of interfering with the due
administration of justice. Aguilar at 599 (citing United States v. Wood, 6 F.3d 692,695 (1ot
Cir. 1993)). The Court went on to state that, "The action taken by the accused must be with

the intent to influence judicial or grand jury proceedings." Id.

Similarly, courts have held that to convict a defendant under §1503, the government
must establish, "(1) that there is a pending judicial or grand jury proceeding constituting the
administration of justice, (2) that the defendant knew or had notice of the proceeding, and
(3) that the defendant acted with the wrongful intent or improper purpose to influence the
judicial or grand jury proceeding . . . that is, that the defendant corruptly intended to
impede the administration of that judicial proceeding." United States v. Sampson, 898 F.3d
287,299 (2™ Cir. 2018), (quoting United States v. Schwarz, 283 F.3d 76, 109 (2d Cir 2020)).
It cannot be the case that the phrase "administration of justice" was intended to mean one
thing in the criminal statutes such as § 1503 and something completely different in the
Guidelines without a clear indication that such was intended to be the case. No such

indication exists.

Therefore, it follows that "administration of justice” as used in §§ 2J1.2(b)(1)(B) and
2J1.2(b)(2) must involve a connection with a judicial or grand jury proceeding. Again,
no such connection exists in the instant matter. In the Application Notes, it states,

"Substantial interference with the administration of justice" includes a premature or
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improper termination of a felony investigation: an indictment, verdict, or any judicial
determination based upon perjury, false testimony, or other false evidence; or the
unnecessary expenditure of substantial governmental or court resources. This definition
pre-dates the 2002 amendment of §1512 which added an "official proceeding" to its scope.
18 U.S.C. § 1515(a)(l) expressly defines an "official proceeding" for purposes of §§ 1512
and 1513 to include judicial and legislative proceedings. As such, it is clear that the term
"official proceeding" is a far broader term than "administration of justice." But the
enhancements in § 2J1.2 require an obstruction of, or interference, with "the administration
of justice" to apply, not an "official proceeding."

The enhancements in §2J1.2 originated before the "official proceeding" provision was
added to §1512 in 2002, and no changes were made to the enhancements in 2002. The
enhancements continued to only apply to interference with the "administration of justice."
§ 2J1.2 was amended twice in 2003 in response to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act but neither
amendment addressed the issue presented here. Amendments 647 and 653 changed § 2J1.2
by increasing the base offense level and adding another enhancement that deals with
document destruction. There is no claim here involving document destruction. They also
added an upward departure provision concerning some obstructive conduct. As such, it is
clear that the two enhancements in § 2J1.2 were never amended to encompass the broader
concept of an “official proceeding" enacted in §1512(c) by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As
obstruction of an "official proceeding" rather than the "administration of justice" is the

theory of prosecution in this and the other January 6 cases, the enhancements do not apply.

Every circuit that has addressed issues involving the "administration of justice" has

defined the term to apply to a judicial proceeding. In United States v. Richardson, 676 F.3d
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491 (5™ Cir. 2012), the court made this abundantly clear, stating, "We have defined "due
administration of justice" as "the performance of acts required by law in the discharge of
duties such as appearing as a witness and giving truthful testimony when subpoenaed. Thus,
obstructing the due administration of justice means "interfering with the procedure of
a judicial hearing or a trial." Richardson at 502-503 (emphasis added) (citations omitted).
Other circuits have followed suit. In United States v. Brenson, 104 F.3d 1267 (1 1% Cir,
1997), the court stated that, "... due administration of justice" means "judicial procedure" and
"the performance of acts required by law in the discharge of duties such as appearing as a
witness and giving thoughtful: testimony when subpoenaed." Id. at 1279-80. In United States
v. Warlick, 742 F.2d 113, (4th Cir.1984), the Fourth Circuit defined obstruction
of the administration of justice as acts that "thwart the judicial process." Id. at 114. In
United States v. Rasheed, 663 F.2d 843 (9th Cir. 1981), the Ninth Circuit stated that the
administration of justice commences with "a specific judicial proceeding." /d. at 851.
Indeed, this Court, in United States v. Hale-Cusanelli, 21 Cr. 37 (TNM), declined to apply
either enhancement on the grounds that, in obstructing the certification of the electoral college
vote count, the defendant was not obstructing or interfering with the administration of justice.
This Court, therefore, should rule similarly here.

C. Four Level Minor Role Downward Adjustment under § 3B1.2

Hunter requested that the Probation Office make a downward adjustment of four-
levels to the Total Offense based upon his minor role in the offense under USSG § 3B1.2.
The reduction is warranted under the circumstances of this case. Hunter’s actions and criminal

behavior are significantly less culpable than others, including his father, charged in the
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January 6" riot in the Capitol and with whom he was convicted, inter alia, of obstructing
justice and aiding and abetting.
In United States v. Soto, 132 F.3d 56 (D.C. Cir. 1997), the Circuit Court explained the
premise behind the § 3B1.2 Mitigating Role Adjustment. The Court wrote:
Recognizing that not all offenders are equally culpable, the Sentencing
Guidelines authorize reduced sentences for defendants whose participation in

illegal conduct was minor, minimal, or somewhere in between. Section 3B1.2
instructs:

Based on the defendant's role in the offense, decrease the offense level as
follows:

(a) If the defendant was a minimal participant in any criminal activity,
decrease by 4 levels.

(b) Ifthe defendant was a minor participant in any criminal activity, decrease
by 2 levels. In cases falling between (a) and (b), decrease by 3 levels.

Id. at 57. “[S]uch adjustments are proper only when the defendant is ‘plainly among the least
culpable’ or ‘less culpable than most other participants.”” United States v. Mellen, 393 F.3d 175,
187 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (citation omitted). Further, in determining whether a defendant qualifies for
an adjustment under § 3B1.2, the sentencing court must make a comparative analysis of the
defendant’s role with others involved in the criminality. "[W]e read § 3B1.2 as instructing courts
to look beyond the individuals brought before it to the overall criminal scheme when determining
whether a particular defendant is a minor participant in the criminal scheme." United States
v.Rojas-Millan, 234 F.3d 464, 473 (9th Cir. 2000). “When measuring a defendant’s culpability
relative to that of other participants, district courts must compare the defendant’s involvement to
that of all likely participants in the criminal scheme for whom there is sufficient evidence of their

existence and participation.” United States v. Diaz, 884 F.3d 911, 916 (9th Cir. 2018).

The determination of whether a defendant was a minor participant "is based on the totality

of the circumstances and involves a determination that is heavily dependent upon the facts of the
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particular case." USSG §3B1.2, comment n.3(C). To make this determination, a court should
consider the degree to which the defendant (1) understood the scope and structure of the criminal
activity, (2) planned or organized the criminal activity, (3) held a decision-making role, (4)
participated and possessed discretion and responsibility, and (5) stood to benefit from the criminal
activity. Id. However, " [a] defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she is
entitled to a minor role adjustment under § 3B1.2 of the Sentencing Guidelines,” U.S. v. Castano,
234 F.3d 111, 113 (2d Cir. 2000) (citation omitted)).

A four-level downward adjustment is appropriate here because, as compared to other
defendants involved in the January 6" riot, Hunter was among the least culpable. The government
charged over 800 individuals with offenses stemming from the riot on January 6, 2021. Several
defendants, weeks before converging on the Capitol, plotted and conspired to engage in seditious
behavior. Others encouraged individuals to bring guns and other weapons to D.C. and advocated
violence and the harming of legislators. Many followed through and came armed with semi-
automatic rifles and handguns and numerous rounds of ammunition, yet others verbally and
physically assaulted law enforcement officers using bear spray, bike racks, fire extinguishers,
batons and shields taken from police officers. Many illegally entered the Capitol Building and
occupied the Senate Chamber posing for photos from the dais or inside legislators’ offices. Some
entered the Speaker of the House Chambers and rifled through confidential documents and stole
items as souvenirs. Many subsequently bragged, through various media postings on Twitter,
Facebook, Instagram, and other social platforms, about what they did in the Capitol. Hunter did
none of those things.

While Hunter was among the first group to enter the Capitol Building, his actions leading

up to attending the rally in D.C., and his involvement in entering and remaining in the Capitol
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Building supports a minimal role downward adjustment under § 3B1.2(a). Undoubtedly, Hunter
joined in with the crowds going to the Capitol Building. He scaled a wall to reach the building and
he removed a small chard of glass, to enter the building without cutting himself, from a window
that others had already busted out. But Hunter did not engage in the more egregious types of
behavior and did not do most of the things that other defendants did either leading up to January
6", or on the day itself. Specifically, Hunter :

e Did not plot or plan with anyone or entity to engage in violence or to bring weapons
to the Capitol;

e Was not a member of, or involved with, any right-wing militia or hate groups, nor
did he correspond with any;

e Did not use social media before attending the rally, promoting or encouraging
violent behavior rally on January 6, 2021;

e Did not take any weapons to the Capitol;

e Did not carry anything that could be used as a weapon on his person, or in his hands
as he approached, entered, and/or went through the Capitol Building;

e Did not verbally or physically threaten or assault any law enforcement or other
individuals he encountered;

e Did not enter any offices or private chambers in the Capitol Building; and

e Did not search, rummage through, or remove/steal documents or other things from
inside the Capitol Building.

Comparatively speaking, therefore, Hunter qualifies for and should receive a four-level adjustment
under § 3B1.2(a) because his involvement in the riot was minimal compared to the actions of other
riot participants. Based upon the totality of the circumstances and the facts particular to the events
of January 6th, therefore, Hunter qualifies for a minimal role adjustment. The factors listed in
Application Note 3(c) to § 3B1.2 also weigh in his favor. He lacked any understanding of the scope
and structure of the criminal activity; did not participate in planning or organizing the criminal
activity or know about a plan for violent behavior on January 6" and did not stand to benefit from

his criminal behavior. Rather, Hunter got caught up in the momentum of the crowds and engaged
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in spontaneous and impulsive behavior. The nature and extent of his participation was limited,
thereby justifying a reduction. See United States v. Restrepo, 936 F.2d 661 (2d Cir. 1991) (based
on minimal role in a money laundering offense — merely unloading boxes of money in a warehouse
on one date — defendant received both a four-level offense level reduction and a four-level
downward departure); United States v. Garrison, 560 F.Supp.2d 83 (D. Mass. 2008) (the court
compares other defendants’ involvement in the same drug enforcement sweep before imposing a
30-month sentence, rather than a 77-96 month guideline term, noting that charging Garrison
separately obscured his very minor role in any larger distribution ring and made it difficult for the
court to take that into account); United States v. Davis, 2008 WL 2329290 (S.D.N.Y. June 5,2008)
(time served imposed for a first-time offender whose possession of sawed-off shotgun prompted
by economic pressures, was minor in comparison to co-actor who engaged in a number of firearm
sales); United States v. Greer, 375 F.Supp.2d 790 (E.D. Wisc. 2005) (in a drug case, guideline
range of 46-48 months was “greater than necessary to satisfy the purposes of sentencing [and]| no
period of imprisonment was appropriate” in part because of the girlfriend’s peripheral role.)
III. Procedural History & Factual Background

A. Procedural History

Hunter comes before the Court on October 24, 2022, for sentencing after being
convicted in a non-jury trial by this Court of Obstruction of an Official Proceeding, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(2) and 2 (Count 1); Entering and Remaining in a Restricted
Building or Grounds, in violation 18 U.S.C. §1752(a)(1) (Count 2); Disorderly and Disruptive
Conduct in a Restricted Building or Grounds, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(2) (Count

3); Disorderly Conduct in a Capitol Building, in violation of 40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)2)(G)

10
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(Count 4); and Parading, Demonstrating, or Picketing in a Capitol Building, in violation of 40
U.S.C. § 5104(e)(2)(G) (Count 5).

B. Factual Background

On January 6, 2021, Hunter, his mother, and his girlfriend, traveled with his father,
Co-defendant Kevin Seefried, to Washington, D.C., at the insistence of his father. Hunter
took a small Trump flag, while his father took a large confederate flag on the trip. All four
travelers went to the Ellipse and listened to speeches by President Trump and other prominent
supporters of the former president. The speakers addressed the large crowds with rhetoric of
clection fraud and the need to protect the country from President-Elect Biden and his party
who “stole the presidential election.” The speeches continued the false narrative of election
fraud that Trump and others had been drumming into the heads and minds of his supporter
from early 2020, and which false claims had become more pervasive once President Biden
was declared winner of the election.

On January 6, 2021, shortly before crowds of his supporters stormed the Capitol,
Trump, like the other speakers, delivered a fiery speech at the rally in the Ellipse:

We beat them four years ago. We surprised them. We took them by
surprise and this year they rigged an election. They rigged it like they’ve
never rigged an election before. And by the way, last night they didn’t
do a bad job either if you notice....

All of us here today do not want to see our election victory stolen by
emboldened radical-left Democrats, which is what they’re doing. And
stolen by the fake news media. That’s what they’ve done and what
they’re doing. We will never give up, we will never concede. It doesn’t
happen. You don’t concede when there’s theft involved.

Our country has had enough. We will not take it anymore and that’s
what this is all about. And to use a favorite term that all of you people
really came up with: We will stop the steal. Today I will lay out just some

of the evidence proving that we won this election and we won it by a
landslide. This was not a close election....

11
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